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Business review 

Eversholt Rail Leasing Limited (the “Company”) generates income from the leasing of rolling stock to train and 

freight operating companies in the United Kingdom.  

The Company forms part of the Eversholt UK Rails Group (the “Group”) more fully described in note 27. The 

Company also forms part of the group of companies (the “Security Group”) that are bound by the terms of the 

financing arrangements established on 4 November 2010 (the “Financing Documents”) for the debt raised by 

Eversholt Funding plc, a fellow Security Group company. The Security Group comprises the Group excluding 

Eversholt UK Rails Group Limited (“EUKRGL”) and Eversholt UK Rails Limited. 

In the year 2023, the Company generated a profit of £7,531,000 (2022: £30,719,000). As at 31 December 2023 
the Company had net assets of £75,345,000 (2022: £105,562,000). The decrease in profit is primarily due to 
lower lease rental income attributable to fleet retirements, and a higher tax charge attributable to a change in 
the allocation of deductible interest between group companies. 

During the year the Company incurred capital expenditure of £16,138,000 (2022: £11,908,000) in relation to its 

programme of new build rolling stock and investments in upgrades to existing fleets. 

Eversholt Rail Limited, a subsidiary company, provides asset management and administrative services to the 

Company, charging an annual management fee. 

The Company continues to be funded principally by loans from a group undertaking, Eversholt Rail Limited, 

together with equity from its immediate parent, Eversholt Investment Limited.   

The Company has no employees. 

Group reorganisation  

During the year, the Company participated in a wider reorganisation of parent companies, which has resulted 

in the voluntary liquidation of UK Rails S.A.R.L. and the incorporation of EUKRGL. Prior to 13 December 2023, 

UK Rails S.A.R.L. was the Company’s ultimate parent and controlling party. With effect from this date, EUKRGL 

is now the Company’s ultimate parent and controlling party. 

As part of that reorganisation and through the transfer of the investment in its issued ordinary share capital, the 

Company’s immediate ownership changed from European Rail Finance Holdings Limited to Eversholt 

Investment Limited, both companies incorporated in Ireland.  

The purpose of the reorganisation was to simplify the corporate structure. 

Risk management 

The Company is subject to the risk management objectives and policies of the Group. The Company shares a 

number of principal risks and uncertainties as disclosed in the Annual report and financial statements of 

Eversholt UK Rails Limited (the parent company of the Group and also referred to as the “Parent”). These relate 

to economic conditions, political and regulatory matters, rail franchising competition, rail technology and safety 

and compliance with laws and regulation. Details of these and related mitigations are set out in the 

aforementioned financial statements. 

In addition to these, the Company carries capital, liquidity, credit and market risks together with residual value 

risks. 

The risks relevant to the Company and analysis of the exposure to such risks, are set out in note 23 of the 

financial statements. 

Financial performance 

The Company’s results for the financial year are detailed in the Income statement on page 17. 

The Directors consider operating lease income and gross profit to be the key performance indicators for the 
Company. Operating lease income for the year was £330,937,000 (2022: £359,864,000), the decrease in 
operating lease rentals versus prior year is primarily due to fleet retirements and re-leasing negotiations. 
Gross profit for the year was £157,571,000 (2022: £154,142,000), which compared to prior year reflects 
lower operating lease income offset by reduced depreciation and write-down of rolling stock. The Group 
continues to identify and, where appropriate, tender for new trains and opportunities to acquire an interest in 
existing fleets in the UK.   
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Corporate governance  

The Company is required by The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 to make a 
statement in relation to its corporate governance practices. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Company has adopted the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (published 
by the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”) in December 2018 and available on the FRC website).  

The Parent has voluntarily adopted the Wates Principles and has made a statement in relation to its corporate 
governance practices in its Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
(“Parent Governance Report”). The Group adopts several governance policies and procedures on a group-
wide basis, which are adopted and implemented by the subsidiaries of the Group to the extent relevant to their 
operations. Accordingly, your attention is drawn to the Parent Governance Report. 

The paragraphs below explain how the six principals set out in the Wates report apply to the Company for the 

financial year reported. 

Principle 1 – Purpose and leadership 

The Group’s strategy in this respect is to focus on growth through investing in UK rolling stock and associated 

rail assets. This is broken-down into three areas: 

• Leasing and asset managing our existing UK fleet; 

• Acquisition of new and existing UK rolling stock assets; and 

• Owning and acquiring UK rail related non-rolling stock assets where they complement our rolling stock 
portfolio.  

Our corporate vision is “To be the UK’s rolling stock leasing company of choice and continue to be an expert 

and responsible provider of train finance and asset management”. Our strategy and vision are underpinned by 

our management of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) matters summarised by the following four 

themes: 

• Innovating to support the transport decarbonisation journey; 

• Leading as a responsible asset owner; 

• Providing a great place to work; and 

• Delivering results with integrity. 

The Group has identified four shared behaviours (respect, one team, be open to change and demonstrate a 
sense of urgency) that are central to the creation and maintenance of a culture within the business which 
empowers each member of the workforce to contribute to the successful pursuit of the Group's strategic aims, 
and to forge strong relationships with the Group's external stakeholders.   

In pursuit of its vision, the Board of the Company (the “Board”) maintains a relentless focus on safety, validated 
by an external Safety Panel as explained in further detail below. 

Principle 2 – Board composition 

The Board of the Company comprises the Group's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Client 

Services Director, Commercial Finance Director and Legal Director. The Group’s Chief Executive Officer also 

sits on the board of EUKRGL (“Parent Board”).   

The Board operates within the framework of the Group's overall strategy as set by the Parent Board. The 

composition and operation of the Parent Board is set out in more detail in the Parent Governance Report. 

The Board considers that its size and composition is appropriate to its function as a leasing company within 
the Group.  

Principle 3 – Director responsibilities 

The Board is responsible for oversight of the Company's activities, within the strategic framework set by the 
Parent Board. Each Board member has a clear understanding of their respective responsibilities and their 
accountability for discharging this role.   

The Group has adopted a formal governance matrix framework which prescribes the scope of authority of the 
Chief Executive Officer and other members of the Leadership Team and reserves key business decisions to 
an appropriate decision maker within the Group. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Principle 3 – Director responsibilities (continued) 

In addition to this, a formal policy and process for major business approvals and the control of expenditure has 
been adopted. 

For the financial year reported, the Board was supported by the following principal operational committees of 
Eversholt Rail Limited: 

• Business Process Committee; 

• Asset Safety Committee; 

• Risk and Compliance Committee;  

• Treasury Committee; and 

• UK Rolling Stock and Balance Sheet Committee. 

In addition, the Parent Board maintains an Audit and Risk Committee and a Remuneration and HR Committee. 
Each committee’s function and role are described below.  

The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Board and each committee. The Company Secretary ensures 
that relevant papers are circulated in advance of meetings to ensure informed decision-making. 

Eversholt Rail Limited Board of Directors (“MaintCo Board”) 

The MaintCo Board meets monthly to consider any matters reserved for it under the Group’s delegated 

authority and governance matrix. It receives monthly briefings on asset safety, HR matters and financial 

performance and quarterly updates on ESG matters. In addition, quarterly updates are provided from the 

Leadership Team and outputs from the Board’s committees are presented monthly.  

Business Process Committee (“BPC”) 

The BPC is chaired by the Business Process Director and comprises other senior members. It meets bi-

monthly to oversee the application and operation of business systems. 

Asset Safety Committee (“ASC”)  

The ASC is chaired by the Client Services Director and comprises other senior members plus all fleet 

managers. It meets monthly to oversee the effectiveness of the safety management and key controls. 

Risk and Compliance Committee (“RCC”) 

The RCC is chaired by the Legal Director and comprises other members of the Leadership Team and the 

Head of Corporate Services. It meets monthly to oversee the management of existing and emergent risks and 

to ensure that appropriate systems and procedures are in place to ensure risks are properly identified, 

assessed, managed, and reported and that the Group complies with its legal obligations (whether contractual 

or statutory). 

Treasury Committee (“TC”) 

The TC is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and comprises other members from the Leadership Team and 

other senior members. It meets monthly and is responsible for the management and control of financial risks 

in accordance with an internal treasury policy.  

UK Rolling Stock and Balance Sheet Committee (“UKRSBS”) 

The UKRSBS is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and comprises the members of the Leadership Team 
and the Head of Corporate Services. It meets fortnightly to oversee a range of operational and strategic 
matters.      

Principle 4 – Opportunity and risk 

Opportunities  

For the financial year reported, the UKRSBS was the principal forum for the assessment of strategic 
opportunities, which were considered as part of their scheduled meetings. Identified opportunities were 
considered at Board level where required by the governance matrix and business approvals framework. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Principle 4 – Opportunity and risk (continued) 

Business risk 

The Board is responsible for the identification and management of risk within the Company, with Group risks 
considered by the Parent Board. The Parent Board is supported by a dedicated Audit and Risk Committee 
(“ARC”). The ARC reviews the Group's internal and external audit processes, together with the Group's 
principal strategic, operational, and financial risks. The Committee meets at least twice a year, and more 
frequently as required. The ARC operates under formal terms of reference and is composed of four 
representatives from the Group's owners with the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Legal 
Director being invited to attend where appropriate.  

Industry-specific operational risks 

The Group operates in an industry where the assessment and management of operational safety risks is of 

paramount importance.   

The Group maintains an ASC and an External Safety Panel (“ESP”).  

The ESP is comprised of the Company's senior independent non-executive director, together with a 

representative with significant operational experience within the UK rail industry and a further transport industry 

executive. The inclusion of a committee member with experience from outside the rail sector provides an 

independent perspective and the opportunity for the Group to learn from best practices in another transport 

sector.  

The role of the ESP is to provide an independent forum to review the work of the ASC. It is chaired by the 

Company’s senior independent non-executive director and reports annually to the Parent Board on the ASC’s 

operation, work, and ongoing effectiveness. 

The ESP meets quarterly and is authorised to review the ASC's working papers. The ESP is empowered to 

require the ASC to undertake new or additional work to determine and address operational risks as it considers 

necessary.   

Principle 5 – Remuneration 

The Company does not have any employees. The Directors receive no additional remuneration for their role 
as directors of the Company in addition to their executive employment by Eversholt Rail Limited. The Parent 
Governance Report discusses the approach taken to executive remuneration within the Group.  

Principle 6 – Stakeholders 

The Group is committed to creating a diverse and inclusive environment for all those with whom it works.  As 
such, it recognises the importance of maintaining strong relationships with its stakeholders to create 
sustainable long-term value, and the Board encourages active dialogue and transparency with all its 
stakeholder groups.   

The Group has identified four principal external stakeholder groups: 

• Train Operating Companies (“TOCs”) and Freight Operating Companies (“FOCs”) – the Group's 
customers; 

• Industry regulators and rail services sponsors (principally the Office of Rail and Road (“ORR”), the 
Department for Transport (“DfT”), Transport Scotland (“TS”), Transport for Wales (“TfW”) and Transport 
for London (“TfL”) (in their role providing funding and strategic direction for major rail projects), and other 
public bodies involved in the UK rail industry; 

• The Group's suppliers – train manufacturing companies and other suppliers who supply and maintain 
rolling stock; and 

• The Group's external lenders. 

Although Great British Railways (“GBR”) has not yet been formally established, the Group is actively engaged 

with the Great British Railways Transition Team in order to better understand any proposed changes following 

The Williams-Shapps Plan for Rail. 

In addition, the Group's owners are a key internal stakeholder. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Principle 6 – Stakeholders (continued) 

More broadly, the Group is aware of the environmental impact of the operation of its leased fleet and seeks to 

minimise this through its fleet maintenance and procurement policies, as described below.   

TOCs and FOCs 

The Group operates under a formal Code of Practice (the “Code”, available at 

https://eversholtrail.co.uk/downloads/), which governs its dealings with TOCs. The Code sets out the Group's 

approach to the market and is designed to provide appropriate assurances for customers as to the manner in 

which the Group's TOC customers can expect to build constructive relationships with it.   

Key provisions of the Code include commitments to: 

• Building long-term relationships with customers; 

• Support customers in providing passengers with a safe, economically efficient and reliable railway 
service; and 

• Fair and reasonable leasing terms, in particular at franchise renewal. 

Amendments to the Code will be made in consultation with the ORR. The Group operates a formal complaints 

procedure in relation to any alleged breach of the Code. 

The Group maintains regular dialogue with all TOCs (including open-access), FOCs and their parent groups 

through a dedicated Client Services Director and Account Management team.  

Regulators and other public bodies involved in the UK rail network 

Whilst not directly regulated itself, the Group maintains a close relationship with the ORR - the independent 

safety and economic regulator of the UK rail industry. 

The Group is committed to assisting national and regional rail sponsors, including the DfT, Transport Scotland, 

TfW, TfL, Transport for the North and Transport for the West Midlands during their respective concession 

award processes and throughout the operation of the rail concessions. 

The Group also engages with other rail stakeholders, such as Transport Focus and the Association of 

Community Rail Partnerships, as well as contributing to a number of cross-industry working parties. 

A consistent, structured approach is applied to all the above relationships. Regular engagement at working 

level is complemented by senior-level reviews focused on strategic aspects, together with ad hoc meetings as 

necessary to support specific joint programmes and initiatives. During concession award processes, a 

dedicated, cross-disciplinary bid team led by a senior manager is established to engage with bidders and 

provide them with all information necessary to support their bid submissions. 

Suppliers 

The Group holds multiple contracts with key business and safety critical suppliers that deliver a range of 

services. These services help support the safe operation of the Group's trains on the railway and enhance the 

residual value of its fleets. Securing the right capability and capacity from the Group's supply base is critical to 

helping the Group manage its operational risk and enhance its reputation with its customers.  

The Group takes a relationship-based approach with its suppliers, focusing on clear and timely communication. 

The Group holds quarterly business reviews with its key strategic suppliers. These reviews encompass a wide 

range of activities including health and safety, delivery performance, engineering support, future plans and 

provide a forum for delivering feedback from key stakeholders to the supplier. In addition to these reviews and 

to help support the operational needs of the business, the Group's project managers hold regular fleet reviews 

with suppliers and customers to ensure compliance with the particular requirements of the project and to 

discuss any issues either party may have that may impact delivery of these requirements.  

External lenders 

The Group regularly engages with its banks and institutional investors. A key forum for dialogue with these 

stakeholders is the Group's annual management presentation, at which a review of the previous financial year 

and outlook for the coming year is shared. This provides stakeholder representatives with the opportunity to 

hear from the Leadership Team, ask questions about the business and engage in informal discussions with  
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Principle 6 – Stakeholders (continued) 

External lenders (continued) 

management. The Group also shares annual and semi-annual financial statements and investor reports 

detailing key events in the development of the business.  

Owners 

The Group maintains close relations with its shareholder with representatives of that shareholder sitting on the 

Board, as outlined above. As part of that relationship, the Group will share details of proposed transactions 

and seek appropriate shareholder approval, where required, for activity which is outside any delegated 

mandate. 

Environment and the community 

The Group is committed to reducing the environmental impact of its leased fleet. All of the Group's new diesel 
fleets are compliant with modern engine emission legislation and its new electric fleets are fitted with 
regenerative braking, putting power back into the overhead line. 

The Group is pursuing a series of green initiatives in relation to its fleets. These include: 
 

• Fitting a number of fleets with a driver advisory system which enables drivers to operate the train in a 
more power efficient way; 

• Ensuring that scrapping processes for life-expired rolling stock maximises the amount of recycled 
materials; and 

• Launching a new initiative to modify one of its electric fleets to fit a battery to allow it to operate on non-
electrified lines, thereby eliminating the requirement to use a diesel train. 

Further information on the Group's participation in industry discussions in response to the UK Government's 
challenge to the UK rail industry to remove all diesel-only trains by 2040 is set out in the Strategic report within 
the Annual report and financial statements of Eversholt UK Rails Limited for the year ended 31 December 
2023. 

The Group recognises its responsibility towards communities and since 2013 the Group has contributed 

through fundraising and donations to charities.  

Our charity partner for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 was Back Up, an organisation that deliver 

services that build confidence, independence and inspire people affected by spinal cord injury to transform 

their lives. We aim to raise awareness of the charity, raise funds, provide volunteering opportunities for our 

staff as well as administration assistance and office space for meetings and training for the charity. Our charity 

partner is selected by our staff. Our previous partners have been Jubilee Sailing Trust and Noah’s Ark.  

We also provide support to several industry organisations including National Rail Museum, Campaign for 

Better Transport and Community Rail Network. 

Section 172(1) statement 

In discharging their duty to promote the interests of the Company under section 172 Companies Act 2006, the 
Directors of the Company have regard to a number of factors and stakeholder interests. These are described 
below. 

As a wholly owned subsidiary with no employees, the Directors do not consider the factors listed in section 
172(1)(b) (interests of the company's employees) or section 172(1)(f) (need to act fairly between the members 
of the company) are relevant to the proper discharge of their duty under section 172. 

The business of the Company is the leasing of rolling stock and other assets TOCs and FOCs in the UK.  

Long-term consequences of business decisions and maintaining reputation for high standards of business 
conduct 

The Company operates in a sector characterised by long-term relationships between stakeholders, driven by 
a relatively small number of market participants.  
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Section 172(1) statement (continued) 

Maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct is vital and the Company expects all members 
of the supply chain to always act with integrity, acting openly, honestly and ethically.  

The Company has zero tolerance to fraud and consistently maintains effective oversight and scrutiny 
processes, executed with independence and impartiality. Integrity is underpinned with polices in relation to 
bribery and corruption, data protection, equality, diversity and inclusion, modern slavery, fraud and 
whistleblowing, each of which is reinforced through appropriate training.   

In addition to the core values, compliance with these requirements together with the Company’s corporate 
responsibility commitments, provide the framework within which the Company operates both internally and in 
the marketplace. Suppliers and contractors are also expected to behave in a consistent manner.  

The Group provides rolling stock and rolling stock related services to TOCs and FOCs who operate rail 
concessions for periods that vary from TOC to TOC but usually include a core term of between two and four 
years. Those NRCs that have a shorter initial term normally have options (exercisable by DfT) allowing them 
to be extended by up to a further four years. Those contracts with a longer initial term normally have options 
allowing DfT to shorten the term of the NRC subject to a minimum period elapsing, which is typically three 
years. Accordingly, consideration of long-term consequences is an inherent part of the Company's decision 
making processes. As a privately-owned company ultimately held by an infrastructure investor, the Board 
considers that the interests of the Company and its ultimate owners are aligned in seeking sustainable value 
creation over the longer term through the Company's operations, promoting long-term strategic decision-
making.  

These factors also drive a continuing focus on the maintenance of durable relationships with stakeholders, 
built on the Group's reputation with customers and suppliers.  

Details of the Code of Practice that sets out the basis on which the Company and the wider Group deals with 
customers and other stakeholders, and other methods of stakeholder engagement designed to maintain the 
Group's reputation for high standards of business conduct, is in the corporate governance statement within the 
Corporate governance section of this Strategic report. 

Identification of, and engagement with, stakeholder groups 

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining strong relationships with its stakeholders in order to 
create sustainable long-term value, and the Board encourages active dialogue and transparency with all its 
stakeholder groups. 

The Group has identified six main stakeholder groups which are relevant to the proper discharge of the duty 
of the Directors of relevant group companies under section 172(1) to promote the success of their company. 
These are detailed under the Corporate governance section of this Strategic report.  

Given the business of the Company, the Board believes that five of these six stakeholder groups are relevant 
to the proper discharge of the duties of the Directors of the Company under section 172(1): 

• TOCs and FOCs the Company's customers; 

• Industry regulators and rail services sponsors; 

• The Company's suppliers – train manufacturing companies and other suppliers who supply and 
maintain rolling stock; 

• The Group's external lenders; and 

• The Group's owners. 

Details of these groups, and the main methods that the Directors have used to engage with those stakeholders 
during the course of the year, is set in the corporate governance statement set out within the Annual report 
and financial statements of the Parent for the year ended 31 December 2023.  

Impact on the environment and the community 

The Company is committed to reducing the environmental impact of its leased fleet. Further information on the 
steps taken to reduce the environmental impact of the Group's operations, and on the Group's participation in 
industry discussions in response to the UK Government's challenge to the UK rail industry to remove all diesel-
only trains by 2040, are set out in the corporate governance statement within the Annual report and financial 
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statements of Eversholt UK Rails Limited for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Parent Governance 
Statement”). 

Section 172(1) statement (continued) 

The Company strives to make a positive impact in the community. Further information on the Group's 
community and charitable activities in which the Company directly participates is set out in the Parent 
Governance Statement. 

 
Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
M B Kenny 
Director        
 
Registered Office 
First Floor 
Chancery House 
53-64 Chancery Lane 
London 
WC2A 1QS 
United Kingdom 

5 March 2024 
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The Directors present their Annual report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2023. 

Directors 

The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing were as follows: 

M B Kenny 
A J Wesson 
D Spence  
P M Sutherland  
L R Warsop  

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that in certain circumstances the Directors are entitled to 

be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against claims from third parties in respect of certain liabilities 

arising in connection with the performance of their functions, in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act 2006. Indemnity provisions of this nature have been in place during the financial year but have 

not been utilised by the Directors. The Directors have no interest in the share capital of the Company. 

Business environment 

The Directors monitor the business environment in which the Company operates from a group perspective 

and details of relevant matters, including changes in the UK rail industry, and climate change, are disclosed in 

the Annual report and financial statements of Eversholt UK Rails Limited. 

Risk management and Corporate governance 

Details of the Company’s risk management and Corporate governance arrangements are set out in the 

Strategic report. 

Fostering business relationships 

The Company recognises the importance of managing strong relationships with its stakeholders in order to 

create sustainable long-term value, and the Board of the Company encourages active dialogue and 

transparency with all its stakeholder groups. Further information is included in the Strategic report and falls 

within the scope of the Section 172(1) Statement. 

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting 

In preparing the Directors’ report and having regard to the reporting requirements of other Group companies 

under UK law, the Company has considered the UK’s ‘Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability 

Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018’ (the “Regulations”), effective from 1 January 

2020 and voluntarily provides the following information. 

During 2023 and 2022: 

• The Company did not consume any energy within the scope of the Regulations and therefore has been 

excluded from disclosure. Meeting energy requirements of the Company’s rolling stock assets is the 

primary responsibility of the Company’s customers, being train and freight operating companies. The 

Company does not therefore consume any fuel/electricity/gas in relation to those assets; and 

• The only company within the Eversholt UK Rails Group that consumed energy is Eversholt Rail Limited, 

from which the Company had received services during the year. Information required by the Regulations 

in respect of Eversholt Rail Limited is set out in its Annual report and financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2023. 

Future developments 

In summer 2021, the UK Government announced that a new organisation, GBR will be created through the 
amalgamation of Network Rail, some elements of the DfT and elements of other cross industry organisations 
such as the Rail Delivery Group. Precise plans have not yet been set out for the roll-out of, and transition to 
GBR, as described in the Strategic report – Business environment section of the Annual report and financial 
statements of Eversholt UK Rails (Holding) Limited. The impact on the Company is not clear at this stage. 
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Future developments (continued) 

No other significant developments are currently anticipated, but the Directors keep opportunities under regular 

review.  

Dividends 

During the year, the Directors declared and paid dividends of £37,500,000 (2022: £69,500,000). 

Going concern basis 

The Directors have considered the Company’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably 

possible changes in trading performance. 

As well as its own resources, the Company is able to rely on financial support and access cash generated from 

other members of the Security Group to the extent necessary, under the terms of the financing arrangements 

with lenders. In relation to the Security Group, the Directors have considered the Group’s forecasts and 

projections; current financial resources (including cash of £336m (2022: £271m) and undrawn committed 

borrowing facilities of £450m as at 31 December 2023 (2022: £450m undrawn)); projected performance 

against financial covenants; the high level of forecast revenue underpinned by existing lease agreements; the 

legal arrangements in place in the event of an operator default and the extent to which the UK Government is 

the “operator of last resort” in such circumstances; and potential mitigating actions. Downside and non-

recovery of contracted revenue have been considered against the most recent forecasts in assessing the level 

of forecast revenue that would need to be lost before the Security Group breached any of its borrowing 

covenants. The Directors are satisfied that under all reasonable sensitivities the Company has adequate 

resources to continue in existence for the period of at least 12 months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue.  

Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  

Disclosure of information to the auditor 

Each person who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that so far as the Director is aware, 

there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware and the Director has taken 

all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. This confirmation is 

given pursuant to Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006 and should be interpreted in accordance therewith. 

Auditor 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the Auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and 
Deloitte LLP will therefore continue in office.  

 
Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 
 

 
M B Kenny 
Director        
 
 
 
Registered Office 
First Floor 
Chancery House 
53-64 Chancery Lane 
London 
WC2A 1QS 

United Kingdom 

 

5 March 2024 
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The Directors have accepted responsibility for the preparation of these financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2023. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the IASB and endorsed for use in the UK by the UK Endorsement Board, 
referred to as “'UK-adopted IFRS”. Refer to note 2 for more details. Under company law the Directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that year. In preparing these 
financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors: 

• Properly select and apply accounting policies; 

• Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 
comparable and understandable information; 

• Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient 
to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the 
entity's financial position and financial performance; and   

• Make an assessment of the Group’s and Company's ability to continue as a going concern.  

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 

the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 

Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 

are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for 

the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  

The Company’s annual financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 March 2024 and 

signed on their behalf by: 

 

 

 

M B Kenny 

Director        
 
 
Registered Office: 
First Floor 
Chancery House 
53-64 Chancery Lane 
London 
WC2A 1QS 

United Kingdom 
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Report on the audit of the financial statements  

Opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements of Eversholt Rail Leasing Limited (the ‘Company’): 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of its profit for 
the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting 
standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB); and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

• the income statement; 

• the statement of comprehensive income; 

• the statement of financial position; 

• the statement of cash flows; 

• the statement of changes in equity; and 

• the related notes 1 to 29. 
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. 
 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  
 
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting included: 
 

• Assessing the financing facilities available to the Company. The values, terms and maturities of those 
facilities were confirmed to lender confirmations and underlying agreements;  

• Challenging the assessment on the Company’s cash flows and its forecast ability to meet its 
obligations. Key assumptions tested included the amount of revenue supported by existing lease 
arrangements and the legal arrangements in place in the event of an operator default and we obtained 
an understanding of these arrangements; 

• Testing of mechanical accuracy of the model used to prepare forecasts; and 

• Review of the disclosures made in the financial statements to determine whether they appropriately 
present the key assumptions the directors have made.  

 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 
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Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained 
within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below.  
 
We considered the nature of the Company’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the Company’s 
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We 
also enquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of 
irregularities, including those that are specific to the Company’s business sector. 
 
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Company operates in, and 
identified the key laws and regulations that:  

• had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
These included International Financial Reporting Standards, UK Companies Act, tax legislation; and 

• do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to 
Company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.  

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
(continued) 

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax regarding 
the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might 
occur in the financial statements. 
 
As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and 
our specific procedures performed to address that is described below: 
 

• Impairment of long-lived assets: We have identified a significant audit risk around the impairment of rolling 
stock. These assets form a large proportion of the balance sheet and their utilisation is contingent upon 
winning lease contracts with Train Operating Companies (“TOCs”). We have pinpointed the risk to the re-
leasing assumptions utilised. Management form key judgements and estimation related to each fleet’s 
useful lives, re-leasing opportunities, estimated future rental income and associated costs. We have 
considered the cash flow models and scenarios modelled by management. We have evaluated key 
judgements related to each fleet’s useful lives, re-leasing opportunities, estimated future rental income 
and associated costs. 

 
In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to 

the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, 

testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made 

in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any 

significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risk identified included the following: 

• reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance 
with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial 
statements; 

• performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate 
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;  

• enquiring of management and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, 
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and  

• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing correspondence with 
relevant tax authorities.  

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
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Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 
 
 
 
 
Suzanne Gallagher FCA (Senior statutory auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Reading 
United Kingdom  
 
5 March 2024 

ekwilliams
Stamp
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   Year ended  Year ended 
   31 December 

2023  

31 December 
2022 

 Note  £’000  £’000 
Revenue      
Operating lease income 4  330,937  359,864 
Other income 4  570  262 

Total revenue   331,507  360,126 
Cost of sales  5  (173,936)  (205,984) 
Gross profit   157,571  154,142 
Finance expense 6  (109,032)  (104,524) 
Administrative expense 7  (19,560)  (18,798) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   1,103  2,666 

Profit before tax   30,082  33,486 
Income tax charge 9  (22,551)  (2,767) 

Profit for the year   7,531  30,719 

 
There were no discontinued or discontinuing operations during the year.       

The notes on pages 21 to 43 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Statement of comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
      

   Year ended  Year ended 
   31 December 

2023  
31 December 

2022 
 Note  £’000  £’000 
      
Profit for the year   7,531  30,719 
      
Other comprehensive (expense)/income      
      Realised loss on cash flow hedges to property, plant and 
equipment 

 
15 

 

174  141 
Revaluation of EUR cash deposits through Other 
comprehensive income 15 

 

(505)  - 
Income tax on Other comprehensive income 15, 20  83  (46) 
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income   (248)  95 
Total comprehensive income for the year   7,283  30,814 

 
Effective portion of changes in fair value cash flow hedges, together with related tax effects, may be 

reclassified to the Income statement in future years.  
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   As at  
31 December 

2023  

As at  
31 December 

2022 
 Note  £’000  £’000 
Assets      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment  11  2,061,022  2,180,511 
Investments in subsidiaries 14  149,319  149,319 

   2,210,341  2,329,830 

Current assets      
Trade and other receivables 13  11,189  10,949 
Cash and cash equivalents 12  -  4,828 
   11,189  15,777 
      
Total assets     2,221,530  2,345,607 
      
Liabilities and equity      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables  16  33,746  51,536 
Current tax   23,020  25,965 
Other liabilities 17  17,277  22,450 
Borrowings 18  70,899  67,985 
   144,942  167,936 
Non-current liabilities      
Other liabilities 17  236,495  189,336 
Borrowings 18  1,690,718  1,801,199 
Deferred tax  20  74,030  81,574 
   2,001,243  2,072,109 
      
Total liabilities   2,146,185  2,240,045 
      
Equity      
Share capital  21  50,000  50,000 
Hedging reserve 15  -  248 
Retained earnings   25,345  55,314 
Total equity   75,345  105,562 
      
Total equity and liabilities   2,221,530  2,345,607 

 

      The notes on pages 21 to 43 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 5 March 

2024. They were signed on its behalf by: 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
A J Wesson 
Director 
 
Company registration number 02720809 
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   Year ended  Year ended 
   31 December 

2023  
31 December 

2022 
 Note  £’000  £’000 
Cash flow from operating activities      

Profit before tax   30,082  33,486 

Adjustments for:       

  -     Depreciation 5  113,944  122,403 

  -     Write-down of rolling stock 5  21,683  38,844 

  -     Gain on disposal of property, plant and  
         equipment  

 

(1,103)  (2,666) 

- Finance expense 6  109,032  104,524 
-       

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital 
  

273,638  296,591 

Increase in trade and other receivables    (240)  (3,724) 

Increase in other liabilities   30,958  9,223 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables   (17,790)  7,941 

Cash flow generated by operating activities  
 

286,566  310,031 

Payment in respect to group relief   (32,957)  (14,540) 

Tax payment   -  (1,105) 

Net cash generated by operating activities   253,609  294,386 

      

Cash flow from investing activities      

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment    (15,964)  (11,767) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   1,103  3,889 

Net cash utilised in investing activities    (14,861)  (7,878) 

      

Cash flow from financing activities      

Term loan repaid to Eversholt Rail Limited 19  (118,759)  (118,760) 

Finance expense paid 6  (444)  (4,319) 

Movement in intercompany loan with Eversholt Rail Limited 19  (86,368)  (96,235) 

Dividend paid 10  (37,500)  (69,500) 

Net cash utilised in financing activities    (243,071)  (288,814) 

 
  

   

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents   (4,323)  (2,306) 

Net foreign exchange difference   (505)  - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   4,828  7,134 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  12  -  4,828 
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Note Share capital  

Hedging 
reserve  

Retained 
earnings  Total equity 

   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Balance at 1 January 2022  50,000  153  94,095  144,248 
Profit for the year  -  -  30,719  30,719 

Realised loss on cash flow hedges to 
property, plant and equipment 15 -  141  -  141 

Income tax on Other comprehensive 
income 

 
15,20 -  (46)  -  (46) 

Total comprehensive income  -  95  30,719  30,814 

Dividend paid 10 -  -  (69,500)  (69,500) 

Balance at 31 December 2022  50,000  248  55,314  105,562 

         
Profit for the year  -  -  7,531  7,531 

Realised loss on cash flow hedges to 
 property, plant and equipment 15 -  174  -  174 

Revaluation of EUR cash deposits 15 -  (505)  -  (505) 

Income tax on Other comprehensive 
expense 

 
15,20 -  83  -  83 

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income  -  (248)  7,531  7,283 

Dividend paid 10 -  -  (37,500)  (37,500) 

Balance at 31 December 2023  50,000  -  25,345  75,345 

 
Dividends of £0.75 (2022: £1.39) per share were paid during the year. 
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1   General Information  

Eversholt Rail Leasing Limited is a private company incorporated in England and Wales and is limited by 
shares (see note 21). The registered office of the Company is First Floor, Chancery House, 53-64 
Chancery Lane, London, WC2A 1QS, United Kingdom.  

 

2   Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements are presented in £’000, which is also the Company's functional currency. All 

amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

The Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements by Section 401 

of the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements present information about the Company as an 

individual undertaking. 

2.1 Compliance with IFRSs 

The financial statements of Eversholt Rail Leasing Limited have been prepared on the historical cost basis 

except for the derivative financial instruments measured at fair value. These financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB or IFRIC and endorsed for use in the UK by 

the UK Endorsement Board, referred to as “'UK-adopted IFRS”, in conformity with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006. 

UK endorsed IFRSs may differ from IFRSs as issued by the IASB if, at this point in time, new or amended 

IFRSs have not been adopted by the UK. At 31 December 2023, there were no unendorsed standards 

effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 affecting these financial statements, and there was no 

difference between IFRSs adopted by the UK and IFRSs issued by the IASB in terms of their application 

to the Company.  

IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by the IASB and its predecessor body as well as 

interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee and its predecessor body.  

 

2.2 Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB 

During the year, the Company adopted IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and a number of amendments to 

standards which were UK endorsed and effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2023. They have no material effect on the financial statements, unless otherwise stated:  

 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  
 

In 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, a comprehensive new accounting standard for 
insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure.  
 
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance 
contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and reinsurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue 
them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features; 
a few scope exceptions will apply. IFRS 17’s overall objective is to provide an accounting model for 
insurance contracts that is more useful and consistent. 
 
The Company does not have any contracts that meet the definition of an insurance contract under IFRS 
17. 

 
Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8  

 
The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments 
replace the definition of a “change in accounting estimates” with a definition of “accounting estimates”. 
Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are 
subject to measurement uncertainty”. The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. 
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2   Basis of Preparation (continued) 

2.2 Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB (continued) 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2  

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 1 for the first time in the current year. The amendments 

change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments replace 

the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy 

information is material if, when considered together with other information included in the financial statements, 

it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial 

statements make on the basis of those financial statements.  

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information that relates 

to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is generally immaterial and need not be disclosed. 

However, accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, 

other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information 

relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.  

In light of the above therefore and in comparison with disclosure in the Annual report and financial statements 

for 2022: 

• the reference to “significant accounting policies” has been replaced by “material accounting policies”; 

and 

• policy in relation to “Foreign currencies”. 

The IASB has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the “four-

step materiality process” described in IFRS Practice Statement 2. 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 

12  

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 12 for the first time in the current year. The amendments 

introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an entity does not 

apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 

differences. Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences may 

arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects 

neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.  

Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related deferred tax asset and 

liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability criteria in IAS 12. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes— International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules 

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 12 for the first time in the current year. The IASB amends 

the scope of IAS 12 to clarify that the Standard applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted or 

substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the OECD, including tax law that 

implements qualified domestic minimum top up taxes described in those rules.  

The amendments introduce a temporary exception to the accounting requirements for deferred taxes in IAS 

12, so that an entity would neither recognise nor disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities 

related to Pillar Two income taxes.  

Following the amendments, the Company is required to disclose that it has applied the exception and to 

disclose separately its current tax expense (income) related to Pillar Two income taxes. 

As required by the amendments, the Company can confirm that it has applied the exception and there are no 

Pillar Two taxes to be reported. Specifically, on 20 June 2023, the government of the UK, where the Company’s 

ultimate parent company and controlling entity is incorporated, enacted the Pillar Two income taxes legislation 

effective from 1 January 2024. Under the legislation, the parent company will be required to pay, in the UK, 

top-up tax on profits of its subsidiaries that are taxed at an effective tax rate of less than 15 per cent. As the 

entities within the Group are UK tax resident, it is not expected that there will be Pillar Two taxes payable once 

the rules come into effect.  
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2   Basis of Preparation (continued) 

2.2 Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB (continued) 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes— International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules  

(continued) 

Other 

At 31 December 2023, a number of amendments to standards have been issued by the IASB, which are 

not effective for the Company’s financial statements as at 31 December 2023. Subject to UK adoption 

(unless otherwise stated), they are applicable for the following accounting periods and are not anticipated 

to have a material impact on the financial statements:  

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 – all adopted during 2023:  

• Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 all endorsed in 2023); 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements a) Non-current Liabilities with 

Covenants; b) Deferral of Effective Date Amendment; c) Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-Current; 

• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16). 

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025: 

• Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of 

Exchangeability. 

2.3 Going concern  

The Directors have considered the Company’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably 

possible changes in trading performance. 

As well as its own resources, the Company is able to rely on financial support and access cash generated 

from other members of the Security Group to the extent necessary, under the terms of the financing 

arrangements with lenders. In relation to the Security Group, the Directors have considered the Group’s 

forecasts and projections; current financial resources (including cash of £336m (2022: £271m) and 

undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £450m as at 31 December 2023 (2022: £450m undrawn)); 

projected performance against financial covenants; the high level of forecast revenue underpinned by 

existing lease agreements; the legal arrangements in place in the event of an operator default and the 

extent to which the UK Government is the “operator of last resort” in such circumstances; and potential 

mitigating actions. Downside and non-recovery of contracted revenue have been considered against the 

most recent forecasts in assessing the level of forecast revenue that would need to be lost before the 

Security Group breached any of its borrowing covenants. 

The Directors are satisfied under all reasonable sensitivities that the Company has adequate resources to 

continue in existence for the period of at least 12 months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue.  

Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

3   Summary of material accounting policies 

The material accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been applied consistently to all years 

presented in these financial statements. 

3.1 Accounting for lease transactions 

The Company as lessor 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 

the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating lease.    

The Company enters into operating lease arrangements as lessor with respect to rolling stock and other 

railway assets, classified as Property, plant and equipment (note 11). 
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3   Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 

3.1 Accounting for lease transactions (continued) 

The Company as lessor (continued) 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the 

related lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiation and arranging an operating lease are added to the 

initial carrying amount of the lease asset and recognised straight-line over the lease term. 

Amounts due from lessees under a finance lease are recognised, at an amount equal to the Company’s 

net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to periods so as to reflect a constant 

periodic rate of return on the Company’s net investment in respect of the lease. 

3.2 Fees and other income 

Income is recognised on satisfaction of the performance obligation in relation to the service required by 

the customer and when control of that service is passed to the customer. Income which forms an integral 

part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment to the effective 

interest rate and recorded in “Finance income”. 

3.3 Finance income and expense 

Finance expense for all interest bearing non-derivative financial instruments is recognised in ‘Finance 

expense’ in the Income statement using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate 

method is a way of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating 

the interest income or expense over the relevant periods. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 

through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability on initial recognition. When calculating the 

effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 

instrument but excluding future credit losses.        

The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the Company that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate of a financial instrument, including transaction costs and any premiums or discounts.  

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets which 

are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale are 

added to the cost of those assets until such time the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. 

Finance expense includes interest payable in relation to derivative instruments and lease liability interest. 

3.4  Income tax 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year and any adjustment to tax payable in 

respect of previous years. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Company intends to settle 

on a net basis and the legal right to offset exists. 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the Statement of financial position and the amounts attributed to such assets and liabilities for tax 

purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.   

Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates expected to apply in the years in which the assets will be 

realised or the liabilities settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted, or substantively enacted, by the end 

of the reporting year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if, and only if:  

a. there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and 

b. the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same 

taxation authority on either: 
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3   Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 

3.4  Income tax (continued) 

(i) the same taxable entity; or 

(ii) different taxable entities that intended to either settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, 

or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which 

significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities and assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 

3.5  Property, plant and equipment 

In the normal course of business, rolling stock and other railway assets are recognised at cost and are 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives to their estimated residual value. The 

useful economic life depends on the class of vehicle and type of asset and ranges from 20 to 40 years. 

Useful economic lives and carrying values are reviewed at least annually.  

In relation to the construction of rolling stock and other railway assets: 

(i) Progress payments paid to third parties are capitalised. 

(ii) Interest costs are capitalised to the extent that they are incurred in relation to borrowings, which are 

attributable to the expenditure necessary to progress the construction of assets. 

(iii) Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until they are available for use. 

The depreciation charge is included in the Income statement as detailed in note 5.  

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or scrapping of an asset is determined as the difference between 

the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the Income statement.   

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying value of its rolling stock and railway assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that the assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is an 

indication that impairment exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent 

of the impairment. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 

is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income 

statement. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised immediately 

in the Income statement. The associated credit is recognised in the Income statement.  

3.6 Subsidiaries 

The Company classifies investments in entities which it controls as subsidiaries. The Company’s 

investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost being the fair value at acquisition date less any impairment 

losses. Any impairment loss recognised in prior years shall be reversed through the Income statement if, 

and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the 

investment in the subsidiary since the last impairment loss was recognised. 

3.7 Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s Statement of financial position 

when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Classification and measurement 

Financial assets are classified and measured by reference to the business model in which assets are 

managed and their cash flow characteristics. Details in relation to financial liabilities are considered below. 
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3   Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 

3.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

The Company holds the following classes of financial instruments: 

Trade and other receivables 

These are held in order to collect the related contractual cash flows and contain contractual terms that give 

rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially 

recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment losses. 

They are derecognised when either borrowers repay their obligations, or the loans are sold or written off, 

or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of change in value. Such investments are normally those with less than three months’ maturity from 

the date of acquisition and include cash. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ or ‘other’ 

financial liabilities. 

Other than derivative liabilities, financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the purchase or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial 

liabilities, other than derivatives are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The Company derecognises the financial liability when the obligations specified in the contract expire, are 

discharged or cancelled. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Allowance for lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) is recognised for: 

• Trade receivables which result from transactions within the scope of IFRS 15 and which do not 

contain a significant financing component; and    

• Lease receivables, which are outside the scope of IFRS 9 for classification and measurement 

purposes but in the scope for impairment. 

 

Where required, 12-month ECL allowance is carried for other financial assets carried at amortised cost 

where the credit risk has not increased significantly since the initial recognition. Where credit risk has 

increased significantly, lifetime ECL allowance will be carried.  

Financial assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment, are considered to be in default or 

otherwise credit-impaired for disclosure purposes. 

Financial assets (and the related impairment allowances) are written off, either partially or in full, when 

there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The amounts written off take into account the proceeds from 

realisation of any collateral underpinning the asset. 

Restructuring/renegotiation of financial instruments 

A financial asset or financial liability that is renegotiated/restructured is derecognised if the existing 

agreement is cancelled and a new agreement is made on substantially different terms, or if the terms of 

an existing agreement are modified such that the renegotiated/restructured asset or liability is a 

substantially different financial instrument. The difference between the carrying value of the original 

agreement and the amount at which the new agreement is initially recognised, is reflected in the Income 

statement. 
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3   Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 

3.7 Financial instruments (continued) 

Restructuring/renegotiation of financial instruments (continued) 

Where the terms are not substantially different, the carrying value of the original (unmodified) instrument 

is replaced by the present value of the cash flows of the modified instrument, discounted at the effective 

interest rate of the original instrument. Any corresponding adjustment is recognised in the Income 

statement. 

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial position, 

when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 

on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Derivatives and hedge accounting 

The Company can enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign 

exchange rate fluctuations. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. A derivative with a positive fair value is 

recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial 

liability. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting the gain or loss on remeasurement to fair 

value is recognised immediately in the Income statement. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge 

accounting, the Company recognises the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial 

instrument in Other comprehensive income, which is accounted for in the Hedging reserve. Any ineffective 

portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the Income statement. The effective part of any gain/loss 

is the lower of: 

(a) the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument from hedge inception; and 

(b) the cumulative gain or loss in the fair value of hedged item from hedge inception. 

 

When the hedging relationship ends the hedging gain or loss recognised in Other comprehensive income 

is reclassified to the Income statement when the hedged item is recognised in the Income statement.  

When the hedged item relates to a capital expenditure transaction and the hedging relationship ends, the 

hedging gain or loss recognised in Other comprehensive income is amortised to Property, plant and 

equipment over the life of the hedged item. If the hedging instrument is terminated, related amounts remain 

in the hedging reserve provided that the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. 

Movements in deferred tax relating to the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives qualifying 

for hedge accounting are recognised in Other comprehensive income and accumulated in the Hedging 

reserve. 

Foreign currency denominated non-derivative financial assets can also be used to manage exposure to 

foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Where qualifying for hedge accounting, the effective part of exchange 

differences arising on translating the carrying value of financial assets will be recognised in Other 

comprehensive income, which is accounted for in the Hedging reserve. Events affecting the hedge 

relationship are accounted for in the manner as described when the hedging instrument is a derivative. 

Determination of fair value 

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. In the normal course of business, the fair value 

of a financial instrument on initial recognition is the transaction price (that is, the fair value of the 

consideration paid or received).  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value that are 

quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for assets held and offer prices for liabilities issued. When 

independent prices are not available, fair values are determined by using valuation techniques which refer 

to observable market data. These include comparison to similar instruments where market observable 

prices exist, discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by market 

participants. 
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3   Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 

3.7  Financial instruments (continued) 

Determination of fair value (continued) 

Where required, fair values are calculated by discounting future cash flows on financial instruments, using 

equivalent current interest rates.  

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the 

valuation techniques as follows: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value 

hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 

hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. Transfers between levels 

of the fair value hierarchy are recognised at the end of the reporting year during which the change occurred. 

3.8  Statement of cash flows 

The Statement of cash flows has been prepared on the basis that, with the exception of tax related 

transactions which are classified under ‘Operating activities’, movements in intercompany balances are 

shown under the heading of ‘Financing activities’. Such movements arise ultimately from the Company’s 

financing activities, through which the Company will acquire resources intended to generate future income 

and cash flows. 

3.9  Share capital 

Shares are classified as equity when there is no contractual obligation to transfer cash or other financial 

assets.  

Dividends payable in relation to equity shares are recognised as a liability in the year in which they are 

declared. 

3.10   Maintenance 

Maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 

3.11  Use of judgements, estimates and assumptions  

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management are required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. This can lead to 

measurement that involves uncertainty. In such case, an accounting estimate is developed to achieve the 

objective established by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of 

judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information, reflecting historical 

experience and other relevant factors.   

Actual results may differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are accordingly 

reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the 

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of revision and future years if the 

revision affects both current and future years.  

In addition, IAS 1 “presentation of Financial Statements”, requires disclosure of judgements made by 

management in applying an entity’s accounting policies, other than those relating to estimation uncertainty. 

As in prior years, no significant judgements are noted. Other than described below, there are no significant 

estimates and assumptions in applying the Company’s accounting policies. Accounting estimates are 

considered significant in the context of IAS 1, if there is a significant risk of a material change to the carrying 

value of assets and liabilities within the next year.  
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3   Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 

3.11  Use of judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Significant estimates and assumptions in applying the Company’s accounting policies 

Following is the significant estimate and assumption that management have made in the process of 

applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements. 

  Value in use of rolling stock assets 

The Company undertakes a review of residual values of its rolling stock assets at least annually.   

If there is indication of impairment of a specific rolling stock fleet, a loss will be recognised to reduce the 

carrying value to its recoverable value, as determined by its value in use. Value in use is calculated based 

on the forecast rentals which the assets will generate over their remaining useful economic lives, having 

regard to the fleet’s current and future prospects under a range of re-leasing scenarios. Future rentals are 

forecast based on past performance, expectation of future performance and market information. Forecast 

future rentals are discounted assuming a pre-tax discount rate incorporating the time value of money and 

asset specific risks. 

Recoverable value is sensitive to changes in the assumptions described above. The table below illustrates 

the impact of changes in assumptions on recoverable value for the Group’s rolling stock fleet as a whole: 
 

 
 

 
 

 Recoverable value 
 Increase/(decrease) 

 

31 December 
2023 
£’000 

31 December 
2022 
£’000 

End of final lease term   
1 year increase 44,578 64,182 
1 year reduction (43,746) (62,911) 

Projected rentals:   
1% increase 17,325 19,735 
1% reduction (17,325) (19,735) 

Discount rate*:   
0.3% (2022: 0.3%) increase (55,270) (58,916) 
0.3% (2022: 0.3%) reduction 57,566 61,389 

 
* 0.3% change is used in the discount rate sensitivity analysis, in light of the current market conditions.  

The assumptions in relation to the above are the only key areas that may have a significant risk of causing 
material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  

 
4   Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue information   
The Company generates revenue wholly in the UK and primarily from the rental of rolling stock assets 

under operating leases. Total income can be analysed as follows: 

 Year ended   Year ended 
 31 December 

2023  
31 December 

2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Operating lease rental income 330,937  359,864 
Other income 570  262 

 331,507  360,126 
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5   Cost of sales 
    

 Year ended   Year ended 
 31 December 

2023  
31 December 

2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Depreciation (113,944)  (122,403) 
Write-down of rolling stock (see note 11) (21,683)  (38,844) 
Maintenance cost  (38,309)  (44,737) 

 (173,936)  (205,984) 

 
6   Finance expense 

    

 Year ended   Year ended 
 31 December 

2023  
31 December 

2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Interest payable to Eversholt Rail Limited (97,560)  (100,205) 
Finance charges payable to Eversholt Funding plc  (444)  (509) 
Other interest (11,028)  (3,810) 

 (109,032)  (104,524) 

 

      Finance expenses represent interest charged in relation to financial liabilities carried at amortised cost. 

 
7   Administrative expense     

Administrative expense includes: 

 Year ended   Year ended 
 31 December 

2023  
 31 December 

2022 
 £’000  £’000 
Management fees payable to Eversholt Rail Limited (19,549)  (18,833) 

Fees payable by Eversholt Rail Limited to the Company’s auditor for 
the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements (119)  (140) 

The Company has no employees and hence no staff costs (2022: £nil). 

8   Directors’ emoluments 

The Directors have been paid by another group undertaking, Eversholt Rail Limited. No specific charge 
has been made to the Company in this regard. 
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9   Income tax charge 

 Year ended  Year ended 
 31 December 

2023  

31 December 
2022 

Current tax £’000  £’000 
UK Corporation tax on current year profit (23,020)  (23,802) 
Adjustment in respect of prior year (6,992)  61 

 (30,012)  (23,741) 

Deferred tax    
Origination and reversal of temporary differences  5,782  16,858 
Adjustment in respect of prior year 1,069  - 
Change in tax rate 610  4,116 

 7,461  20,974 

    

Income tax charge (22,551)  (2,767) 

The Company has recognised a prior year tax charge of £5,923,000. This represents a re-allocation and 

reduction of the interest expense disallowed for tax purposes under the Corporate Interest Restriction 

(“CIR”) rules from Eversholt Investment Limited to the Company. 

The UK tax rate applied to the profits in the period was 23.5% (2022: 19.0%). Corporation tax has been 

calculated by reference to the current tax rate of 23.5%. Deferred tax is calculated by reference to the tax 

rates that apply when the corresponding deferred tax asset is realised or deferred tax liability settled. The 

applicable rates are those rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 31 December 2023 

and are as follows: 

  
For periods:                                    % 
Prior to 1 April 2023                        19 
Post 31 March 2023                        25 
 
This has led to the tax (charge)/credit attributable to “change in tax rate” shown in the above analysis.  

The following table reconciles the tax charge which would apply if all profits had been taxed at the UK 

corporation tax rate: 
    

 Year ended  Year ended 
 

31 December 
2023  

31 December 
 2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Profit before tax 30,082  33,486 

Taxation at corporation tax rate of 23.5% (2022: 19.0%)  (7,075)  (6,362) 
Change in tax rate   610  4,116 
Adjustment in respect of prior year (5,923)  61 
Unrecognised tax attribute (see note 20) (10,163)  (582) 

Income tax charge (22,551)  (2,767) 

 
In addition to the amount charged to the Income statement, deferred tax relating to components of other 

comprehensive income has resulted in a gain of £83,000 recognised in total comprehensive income (2022: 

£46,000 loss). 

10   Dividends 

£37,500,000 was paid to European Rail Finance Holdings Limited in the year ended 31 December 2023  

(2022: £69,500,000). 
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11 Property, plant and equipment 
  

 Rolling stock 
and other 

railway assets 
Cost £’000 
Balance at 1 January 2022 3,195,615 
Additions 11,908 
Disposals (114,171) 
Balance at 31 December 2022 3,093,352 
Additions 16,138 
Disposals (53,398) 
Balance at 31 December 2023 3,056,092 
  
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  
Balance at 1 January 2022 864,542 
Charge for the year 122,403 
Write-down 38,844 
Disposals (112,948) 
Balance at 31 December 2022 912,841 
Charge for the year 113,944 
Write-down 21,683 
Disposals (53,398) 
Balance at 31 December 2023 995,070 
  
Carrying value at 31 December 2023 2,061,022 

Carrying value at 31 December 2022 2,180,511 

 

The depreciation charge is included within cost of sales in the Income statement. Following a review of 

recoverable values, the Company has written down the net book value of rolling stock by £21,683,000 

(2022: £38,844,000). This reflects the extent to which the net book value of rolling stock exceeds 

recoverable value. The write-down is included as part of accumulated depreciation. 

2023 additions include a debit from other comprehensive income (being a realised loss on cashflow 

hedges) of £174,000 (2022: £141,000 debit). 

All fixed assets are subject to operating lease arrangements or are available to lease under such 
arrangements. 

 
12 Cash and cash equivalents 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Bank accounts -  4,828 

 
13 Trade and other receivables 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Trade receivables  7,994  6,395 
Accrued income 3,195  4,554 
 11,189  10,949 
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13 Trade and other receivables (continued) 

Trade receivables includes £1,735,000 (2022: £2,793,000) in relation to operating lease rentals that have 

been accrued and for which a 12 month expected credit loss allowance of £166,000 (2022: £358,000) is 

carried. During the year there has been a decrease of £192,000 in the expected credit loss allowance (year 

ended 31 December 2022: £264,000 decrease). The allowance reflects a revised rental payment profile, 

pursuant to changes in commercial arrangements.  

14 Investments in subsidiaries 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 

Cost at 31 December 149,319  149,319 

 

The subsidiary undertakings of the Company at the end of the year were:  

Name of Undertaking 
Class of 
Capital 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Type of 
business 

Ownership 
Percentage 

Ownership 
Percentage 

    2023 2022 

Eversholt Rail Limited  Ordinary 
Shares 

England* Management 
services 

100 100 

Eversholt Depot Finance Limited Ordinary 
Shares 

England* Leasing  100 100 

* Registered office: First Floor, Chancery House, 53-64 Chancery Lane, London, WC2A 1QS, United 
Kingdom.  

 
15 Hedging reserve 

The Company has entered into foreign exchange contracts in the past pursuant to the risk management 
activities described in section 24.4.4. However, all these contracts were settled by 31 December 2020. 

Movement in Hedging reserve 
   

 
 

Current hedge 
accounted 

  £’000 
Balance as at 1 January 2022  (153) 
Transfer to Property, plant & equipment   (141) 
Revaluation of EUR cash deposits through Other 
comprehensive income  - 
Income tax on Other comprehensive income  46 
Balance as at 31 December 2022  (248) 
Transfer to Property, plant & equipment   (174) 
Revaluation of EUR cash deposits through Other 
comprehensive income  505 
Income tax on Other comprehensive income  (83) 
Balance as at 31 December 2023  - 

 
When foreign exchange forward contracts have settled before the committed EUR denominated capital 
expenditure has been incurred, related EUR cash deposits continue to hedge related commitments. Being 
part of a hedge accounting relationship and equal in principle to the amount of commitments, any exchange 
differences arising on translating the EUR cash deposits to sterling, are wholly recognised in the hedging 
reserve.  

During the year a loss of £174,000 (2022: £141,000 loss) was realised in property, plant and equipment 

additions. The residual gain recognised in other comprehensive income will amortise to property, plant and 

equipment in line with the payment profile of the hedged capital expenditure.  
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16 Trade and other payables  

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Trade and other payables  14,062  17,498 
Rentals received in advance 12,456  24,663 
Accruals  7,228  9,375 

 
 
 

33,746  51,536 

17 Other liabilities 

Other liabilities represent amounts charged to customers under current contracts in relation to their share 

of future rolling stock maintenance costs after the expiry of the current lease. These amounts will be paid 

out over the course of future leases, as yet unidentified, to future lessees who will undertake the future 

rolling stock maintenance. Such amounts will never be recognised as revenue in the Company’s income 

statement and can be analysed as follows: 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 

Current 17,277  22,450 

Non-current 236,495  189,336 

 253,772  211,786 

 

18 Borrowings 
 31 December 

2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Current    
Eversholt Rail Limited (term loan) 70,899  67,986 
    

Non-current    

Eversholt Rail Limited (term loan) 1,056,145  1,127,043 

Eversholt Rail Limited (intercompany loan) 634,573  674,155 
 
 

1,690,718  1,801,198 

Total borrowings 1,761,617  1,869,184 

 

The fixed rate loan with Eversholt Rail Limited is described as ‘term loan’ in the above table. This is 

repayable on or before 1 April 2036 with capital and interest payable on a monthly basis. Interest is charged 

at a fixed rate plus margin (2022: fixed rate plus margin). 

 

The intercompany loan with Eversholt Rail Limited is repayable on 1 November 2028. 

 

The Company may prepay and redraw the loan until the repayment date. Interest on the loan is payable 

monthly at a floating rate, which substantially matches the rate of the Group’s senior debt, plus margin (31 

December 2022: Group’s senior debt, plus margin). 

 

All assets have been pledged to secure borrowings of the Security Group. The Company is not permitted 

to pledge these assets as security for other borrowings and is restricted in the use of disposal proceeds. 

The assets are secured by a fixed and floating charge held by the financial institutions that have lent to 

Eversholt Funding plc. 
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18 Borrowings (continued) 

Maturity of borrowings  

The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Company’s non-current borrowings at 31 December 2023 

was as follows: 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
In more than one year but not more than two years 72,596  70,899 
In more than two years but not more than five years 872,411  906,965 
In more than five years  745,711  823,335 

 1,690,718  1,801,199 

 
19 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

        

31 December 2023 As at 31 
December 

2022 

 
Cash Flows 
payments  

 Non-cash 
finance 
expense 

 As at 31 
December 

2023 
Financing activities attributable to: £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Eversholt Rail Limited (term Loan) 1,195,029  (118,759)  50,774  1,127,044 

Eversholt Rail Limited 674,155  (86,368)               46,786  634,573 

 1,869,184  (205,127)  97,560  1,761,617 

 

31 December 2022 As at 31 
December 

2021 

 
Cash Flows 
payments  

 Non-cash 
finance 
expense 

 As at 31 
December 

2022 
Financing activities attributable to: £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
Eversholt Rail Limited (term Loan) 1,260,093  (118,760)  53,696  1,195,029 
Eversholt Rail Limited 723,881  (96,235)               46,509  674,155 

 1,983,974  (214,995)  100,205  1,869,184 

 

20 Deferred tax  

Deferred tax liabilities are offset against deferred tax assets where the relevant criteria is met (see note 3). 

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances: 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Deferred tax liabilities 74,030  81,574 
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20 Deferred tax (continued) 

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised by the Company and movements 
thereon during the current and prior reporting year: 

       Capital 
Allowances  

Fair value on 
derivatives 

 
Total 

 £000’s  £000’s  £000’s 

At 1 January 2022 102,468  34  102,502 

Credit to Income statement (16,858)  -  (16,858) 

Charge to Other comprehensive income -  26  26 

Effect of change in tax rate:      

  - Income statement (4,116)  -  (4,116) 

  - Charge to Other comprehensive income -  20  20 

Prior year adjustments -  -  - 

At 31 December 2022 81,494  80  81,574 

      

Credit to Income statement (5,782)  -  (5,782) 

Credit to Other comprehensive income -  (78)  (78) 

Effect of change in tax rate:      

  - Income statement (610)  -  (610) 

  - Credit to other comprehensive income -  (5)  (5) 

Prior year adjustments (1,072)  3  (1,069) 

At 31 December 2023 74,030  -  74,030 

 

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers the extent to which it is 
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits in the future to allow the benefit of part or all of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. In assessing this, the Company considers internal profit projections and 
budgets and related tax impacts, as well as the amount and timing of the reversal of timing differences 
giving rise to deferred tax liabilities at the Statement of financial position date. 

Deferred tax is calculated by reference to the tax rates that apply when the corresponding deferred tax 
asset is realised or deferred tax liability settled. The applicable rates are those rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by 31 December 2023 and are as follows: 

For periods:                                    % 
Prior to 1 April 2023                        19 
Post 31 March 2023                        25 

This has led to the tax charge attributable to “effect of change in tax rate” shown in the above analysis.  

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £36,464,000 (2022: £17,869,000) in relation to 
interest expense disallowed for tax purposes in the financial year under the CIR rules. This includes a prior 
year adjustment of £5,923,000 together with a current year disallowance of £10,163,000 and the effect of 
a change in tax rate (£2,509,000). 

 

21 Share capital  
 31 December 

2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid    
50,000,002 Ordinary shares of £1 each  50,000  50,000 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to attend and vote at annual general meetings and receive 
dividends as and when declared. 
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22 Capital commitments  

In respect of rolling stock capital expenditure: 
 31 December 

2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
Authorised and contracted  21,530  36,642 

 

The above represents all capital commitments. 

23 Risk management 

The Company has exposure to the following types of risk arising from its use of financial instruments: 

capital risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk , 

as well as inflation risk. In respect of inflation in particular, the Company is closely monitoring changes in 

rates and future inflation expectations, as well as any potential consequences. At this stage, it is not 

anticipated that there will be any material impact upon the Company. In addition, the Company is exposed 

to residual value risk from its ownership of rail assets and credit risk from leasing arrangements.  

Sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed in note 3.11. 

The management of all risks which are significant, together with the quantitative disclosures not already 

included elsewhere in the financial statements, is described in this note. 

23.1 Residual value risk 

The Company’s return from operating lease assets is dependent on its management of residual value risk. 
This risk arises to the extent that the values recovered from re-letting assets at the end of the current lease 
terms (the “residual values”) differ from those projected at the inception of the leases. The Company 
regularly monitors residual value risk exposure by reviewing the recoverability of the residual value 
projected at lease inception. This entails considering the potential to re-let assets at the end of their current 
lease terms. Provision is made to the extent that the carrying values of leased assets exceed the 
recoverable value.  

The Company seeks to maximise the reletting potential of its assets by active management of the technical 
and commercial utility of these assets.  

The Company has developed a specialist in-house inspection team who consider whole-life vehicle 

management; all vehicles are subject to a periodic inspection regime that delivers targeted inspections 

based on risk analysis. The Company’s asset engineering team regularly visits the operating depots and 

freight yards for the purpose of vehicle inspection and technical investigation. The Company and the Group 

has an excellent knowledge of the current condition of its fleets. 

The Company fleet performance is constantly monitored for emerging trends that might indicate that the 

fleet has developed a problem The Company works proactively with the train operator to identify 

opportunities to improve the performance of the fleet and in turn, ensure that the fleet’s condition is 

optimised when it is next available for leasing to a subsequent operator. The Company maintains regular 

dialogue with the train operator on fleet performance so that any emerging issues can be dealt with quickly. 

There has been no change to the Company’s exposure to residual value risks or the manner in which these 

risks are managed and measured. 

23.2 Capital risk management 

The Board actively monitors the capital structure of the Company to ensure that it is able to continue as a 
going concern and can generate attractive and predictable returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders. Consideration is given to the availability, cost and risks associated with each class of capital. 

The capital structure of the Company consists primarily of borrowings from another group undertaking and 
equity from its immediate parent.  

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  

 



Eversholt Rail Leasing Limited   

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 38 

23 Risk management (continued) 

23.3 Credit risk management 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its obligations under a 

contract.  

The Company’s principal credit exposures arise from the obligations of lessees to make lease rental 

payments; from the obligations of suppliers under contracts for services and supplies; and from the ability 

of bank counterparties to return cash and cash deposits placed with them. 

The Company manages credit risk by way of established risk management processes encompassing credit 

approvals and the monitoring and reporting of exposures. Regular reviews are undertaken to assess and 

evaluate the financial stability of counterparties.  

As part of the Company’s processes for credit risk management and assessment of ECL, as well as 
assessment as to whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since the exposure first arose 
or whether a financial asset is credit impaired, management takes into account the following: 

• Historical credit experience of the counterparty; 

• Third party credit reports and analysis; 

• Past, current and future events and circumstances that could impinge upon the counterparty's 
performance and ability to perform and service its obligations as they fall due and meet its 
commitments as they arise. This will include assessment of actual and potential external events, as 
well as the Company’s internal information; 

• The nature of the arrangements with the counterparty and whether there is related collateral/security 
which can be applied; 

• Existence of any parties to which the Company might have recourse in the event of a counterparty 
default, for example, where a counterparty's activities and related obligations (wholly or partly) might 
be assumed by a successor; and 

• The duration of the exposure under review. 

Credit assessments might lead to the counterparty being considered in default or amounts due being 
written off to the extent not recoverable, taking into account collateral/security/recourse arrangements. 

Allowances for ECL are calculated on a lifetime basis, where required for trade receivables and lease 

receivables under IFRS 9. In relation to other financial assets, the Company has only limited instances of 

assets where 12-month ECL allowances might be required. Therefore, the need to consider when there is 

a significant credit deterioration is only needed in rare situations (for example, debts overdue by more 30 

days) and on a case by case basis. Counterparties will be regarded as having low credit risk where an 

investment grade rating is available. 

Credit Risk Exposure 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

counterparty. However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its 

customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which customers 

operate. The Company has established a credit procedure under which each new customer is analysed 

individually for creditworthiness, including for example, external ratings, if they are available, financial 

statements, credit agency information and industry information. The Company limits its exposure to credit 

risk through contractual documentation. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are considered on 

an individual basis (or grouped according to their credit characteristics, including their geographic location, 

industry, trading history with the Company and existence of previous financial difficulties).  

The Company’s principal exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2023 amounts to the balance of Trade 

and other receivables as disclosed in note 13, together with Cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in 

note 12. The carrying amounts of these assets represent the maximum credit exposure.  

All such assets are performing in accordance with the terms of the arrangements policy all payments to 
date as well as those expected in the future, have been made/are expected to be made in accordance with 
the underlying contractual terms. No part of the financial asset is credit impaired or overdue or in default. 
For these purposes, the Company defines “default” as where the obligor has failed to meet its obligations 
under the contract and “credit impaired” where there is objective evidence as to a credit event for the 
obligor.  
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23 Risk management (continued)  

23.3 Credit risk management (continued) 

The definition has been applied historically by the Group and is regarded as appropriate, having regard to 
the nature of the Group’s exposure and past experience. 

In particular, substantially all of the trade receivables outstanding at 31 December 2023 have been 
received subsequent to year-end, other than where payment has been deferred, as described in note 13. 

In light of the above, the Company considers that ECL of £166,000 is required at 31 December 2023 (2022: 
£358,000). 

This reflects the Company’s assessment of each borrower’s risk and exposure, together with nature of 
recourse to which the lender and borrower would have access in the event of a potential issue. 

23.4 Market risk management 

23.4.1 Foreign exchange risk 

The Company hedges against foreign exchange risk on its financial assets or financial liabilities. 

A 50 basis points increase in Euro: GBP spot exchange rate would have resulted in a decrease of £nil 
(2022: £24,000) in amounts recognised in the hedging reserve for the financial year (note 15). The 
sensitivity analysis is applied to spot exchange rate at 31 December 2023 (2022: at 31 December 2022) 
and represents a reasonable approximation of possible change. 

23.4.2 Interest rate risk management  

The Company has exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. Cash flow exposure to fluctuations in interest 
rate is managed at a Group level through the use of interest rate swaps. The cost or benefit derived from 
the use of swaps is taken into account in determining the cost of intercompany loans. 

23.4.3 Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

A 50 basis points increase in SONIA would have resulted in an increase of £79,000 (2022: £469,000 based 
on SONIA) in interest expense on intercompany loan for the financial year. The sensitivity analysis is 
applied to the borrowing rate and performed on the monthly balance of the relevant financial instrument 
and represents a reasonable approximation of possible change.  

23.4.4 Approach to hedging 

Consistent with prior years and where required, the Company will use foreign exchange contracts to 
manage its foreign currency risk by holding foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the variability in 
sterling cash flows associated with committed EUR denominated capital expenditure. Where contracts 
settle before expenditure is incurred, foreign exchange deposits continue to hedge this variability. 

Forward foreign exchange contracts are designated as part of hedging relationships upon their inception. 
The Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along 
with its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. At the 
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the hedging instrument 
is effective in offsetting changes in cash flows arising from the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, 
which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:  

• there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;  

• the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic 
relationship; and  

• the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as resulting from the principal of the hedge 
item, actually hedged, and the principal of the hedging instrument. 

 
Once established, hedging arrangements will generally continue until all capital expenditure has been 
incurred. As such, there is little, if any, need to reset hedging relationships. In general, it is expected that 
any hedge ineffectiveness will be minimal given the basis upon which hedging is established and the extent 
to which critical terms match.  

 

 



Eversholt Rail Leasing Limited   

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 40 

23 Risk management (continued)  

23.5 Liquidity risk management 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Company monitors its cash flow requirements on a daily basis and compares expected cash flow 

obligations with expected cash flow receipts to ensure they are appropriately aligned. Cash is managed 

on a consolidated basis across the Security Group which enables the Company to borrow funds from 

another group undertaking to meet any shortfall. Conversely, the Company lends any surplus funds to 

other group undertakings. Liquidity is further under-pinned by the ability of certain group undertakings to 

borrow under a £450,000,000 revolving credit facility. Extended by one year in 2023, the facility is for a 

period ending in November 2028 with the option to extend for a further one year.  

Undiscounted cash flows on the Company financial assets and financial liabilities are analysed below by 
their contractual due date. Undiscounted cash flows in respect of the intercompany loans with other entities 
include the principal amount only, due to the uncertainty of intercompany movements and of interest 
estimation. Interest on intercompany loans is settled as part of intercompany cash movements.  

 
 Carrying 

value  
Contractual 
cash flows  On demand  

Due within     
1 year  

Due between      
1-5 years  

Due after       
5 years 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

31 December 2023            

Financial assets            

Trade and other receivables 11,189  11,189  -  11,189  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents -  -  -  -  -  - 

 11,189  11,189  -  11,189  -  - 

            

Financial liabilities            

Trade and other payables 33,746  33,746  -  33,746  -  - 

Intercompany term lending 1,127,044  1,454,806  -  118,760  475,039  861,007 

Intercompany loan 634,573  634,573  -  -  634,573  - 

 1,795,363  2,123,125  -  152,506  1,109,612  861,007 

            

Total financial instruments (1,784,174)  (2,111,936)  -  (141,317)  (1,109,612)  (861,007) 

            
 Carrying 

value  
Contractual 
cash flows  On demand  

Due within     
1 year  

Due between      
1-5 years  

Due after       
5 years 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

31 December 2022            

Financial assets            

Trade and other receivables 10,949  10,949  -  10,949  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,828  4,828  4,828  -  -  - 

 15,777  15,777  4,828  10,949  -  - 

            

Financial liabilities            

Trade and other payables 51,536  51,536  -  51,536     

Intercompany term lending 1,195,029  1,573,566  -  118,760  475,039  979,767 

Intercompany loan 674,155  674,155  -  -  674,155  - 

 1,920,720  2,299,257  -  170,296  1,149,194  979,767 

            

Total financial instruments (1,904,943)  (2,283,480)  4,828  (159,347)  (1,149,194)  (979,767) 
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24 Financial instruments 

The fair values together with the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities are as 

follows: 

 
Note  

Carrying 
amount Fair value 

31 December 2023    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial assets       

Amortised cost       

- Trade and other receivables 13  11,189  11,189  

- Cash and cash equivalents 12  -  -  

Total financial assets   11,189    

       

Financial liabilities       

Amortised cost       

- Trade and other payables 16  33,746  33,746  

- Intercompany term lending 18  1,127,044  1,083,667  

- Intercompany loan 18  634,573  634,573  

Total financial liabilities   1,795,363    

       

Total financial instruments   (1,784,174)    

 

 
 

Note  
Carrying 
amount Fair value 

31 December 2022    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial assets       

Amortised cost       

- Trade and other receivables 13  10,949  10,949  

- Cash and cash equivalents 12  4,828  4,828  

Total financial assets   15,777    

       

Financial liabilities       

Amortised cost       

- Trade and other payables 16  51,536  51,536  

- Intercompany term lending 18  1,195,029  1,195,029  

- Intercompany loan 18  674,155  674,155  

Total financial liabilities   1,920,720    

       

Total financial instruments   (1,904,943)    

 

25 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

There are no material differences between the carrying value and the fair value of the financial assets and 
liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: £nil), except for the intercompany term lending. 
This has a carrying value of £1,127,044,000 and fair value of £1,083,667,000 (2022: fair value was reported 
as equivalent to the carrying value). 
 
Financial assets and liabilities for which valuation categorisation is required, fall within level 2. 
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26 Operating lease arrangements 
 

The Company as lessor 
 
The Company has contracts with lessees in relation to rolling stock. At the reporting date, the outstanding             
commitments for undiscounted lease payments to be received under operating leases are as follows: 

 

 31 December 
2023  

31 December 
2022 

 £’000  £’000 
    

Within one year  300,977  274,033 
1-2 years 247,739  258,931 
2-3 years 206,692  209,957 
3-4 years 186,841  178,813 
4-5 years 72,075  162,375 
Over 5 years 267,204  262,619 

 1,281,528  1,346,728 
    

Aggregate operating lease rentals receivable in the year 330,937  359,864 

  

27 Related-party transactions 

During the year and as part of the Group reorganisation, the Company’s immediate ownership of its     
ordinary share capital changed from Eversholt Finance Holdings Limited, to Eversholt Investment Limited, 
both companies incorporated in Ireland.  
 
27.1 Identity of related parties 

The Company has a related party relationship with its Directors (refer to page 10) and with its fellow group   
undertakings of the Eversholt UK Rails Group, namely: 

- Eversholt UK Rails Group Limited 
- Eversholt UK Rails Limited 
- Eversholt UK Rails (Holding) Limited 
- European Rail Finance Holdings Limited 
- Eversholt Investment Limited  
- European Rail Finance Limited 
- Eversholt Finance Holdings Limited 
- Eversholt Funding plc 
- Eversholt Rail Limited  
- Eversholt Depot Finance Limited  
- European Rail Finance (2) Limited 

With effect from 13 December 2023, the Directors of the Company consider the ultimate parent and 
controlling party to be Eversholt UK Rails Group Limited, incorporated in the UK.  Prior to this date, the 
Directors considered this party to be UK Rails S.A.R.L., a company incorporated in Luxembourg.  This 
reflects a wider reorganisation of parent companies, which has resulted in the voluntary liquidation of UK 
Rails S.A.R.L. and the incorporation of Eversholt UK Rails Group Limited. This new company will not 
prepare financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2023, as the period since its incorporation 
does not qualify as an accounting reference period under the Companies Act 2006. 

Accordingly, the parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group financial 
statements are drawn up and which the Company is a member of, is Eversholt UK Rails Limited. 

The parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings for which group financial statements are 
drawn up and which the Company is a member of, is Eversholt UK Rails (Holding) Limited. 
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27 Related-party transactions (continued) 

27.1 Identity of related parties (continued) 

Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Eversholt UK Rails Limited may be obtained from the 
following registered address: 

First Floor 
Chancery House 
53-64 Chancery Lane 
London 
WC2A 1QS 

Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Eversholt UK Rails (Holding) Limited may be obtained 
from the following registered address: 
 
First Floor 
Chancery House 
53-64 Chancery Lane 
London 
WC2A 1QS 
 
27.2 Transactions with related parties  

Dividend income and dividends paid are more fully described in note 10. The Company has loans with 
related parties, more fully described in note 18. Finance charges and Interest on the loans is more fully 
described in note 6. 

The Company paid management fees to Eversholt Rail Limited of £19,549,000 (2022: £18,833,000). 

The Company paid Eversholt Rail Limited £38,862,000 for the procurement of maintenance of the rolling 
stock (2022: £40,072,000). 

28 Contingent liabilities 

There were no contingent liabilities for the Company at 31 December 2023 (2022: £nil). 

 

29 Subsequent events 

      There are no subsequent events requiring disclosure in the financial statements. 


